IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FRANKLIN DELANO FLOYD, :
 Appellant, :
 vs. :
 STATE OF FLORIDA, :
 Appellee. :

: Case No.SC03-35

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

:

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DOUGLAS S. CONNOR Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0350141

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal consists of the original record containing 22 volumes, two separate addendums, a supplemental record containing 25 volumes, and a supplemental addendum transcript. References to the original record will be designated by volume number, followed by "R" and the appropriate page number. References to the addendum will be designated "AD", followed by "R" and the appropriate page number. References to the Second Addendum will be designated "AD2" and the volume number (I or II), followed by "R" and the appropriate page number. References to the supplemental record will be designated "S" and the volume number, followed by either "R" or "T" and the appropriate page number. References to the Supplemental Addendum Transcript will be designated "SAD", followed by "T" and the appropriate page number.

The prefix "T" indicates transcript from the trial itself. The prefix "R" indicates documents filed with the clerk, transcript of pretrial hearings and transcript of the sentencing hearings.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Pinellas County grand jury returned an indictment on November 12, 1997, charging Franklin Delano Floyd, Appellant, with committing the first-degree murder of Cheryl Commesso between the dates of March 13 and June 16, 1989 (I, R1-2). A capias was issued on the same date (I, R10). Appellant requested disposition of this charge pursuant to the Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act on July 28, 1999 (XII, R2161-2). He was transported to the Pinellas County Jail from federal prison in Georgia on October 5, 1999 (I, R13).

At his first appearance, held October 6, 1999, Appellant declined the offer of counsel and agreed to represent himself (XIX, R3471). The next day, Floyd announced that he had "no choice" but to request appointment of the Public Defender as he would be unable to get access to discovery otherwise (XIX, R3474). The court appointed the Public Defender to represent Floyd (XIX, R3475).

Subsequently, on November 18, 1999, Appellant's counsel waived speedy trial (I, R37). Floyd filed a *pro se* "Motion for <u>Faretta</u> Hearing", which was later withdrawn (I, R45-6, 49-51, 60). However, on June 29, 2000, Floyd's frustration at the length of

time it was taking to get to trial was put on the record (I, R150-2). Counsel stated that when Floyd was returned to Florida, he had expected that his right to a speedy trial under the Interstate Agreement on Detainers would be honored (I, R150). Floyd reluctantly agreed to waive speedy trial "in order to have adequate representation" by counsel (I, R151). However, he objected to being forced to give up the important right to a speedy trial in order to secure the "equally important right to effective assistance of counsel" (I, R151-2). The State then offered to move up the trial date to October 2000 (I, R152-3). The judge required Appellant to answer on the record whether he wanted to go to trial on October 23, 2000 or whether the trial should remain scheduled for March 2001 (I, R163-4). Floyd replied that he had to accept the March date because his lawyers said they couldn't be prepared by October (I, R164).

On November 2, 2000, a hearing was held regarding Appellant's pro se "Motion for <u>Faretta</u> Hearing" and his letter to Judge Ley, both filed November 1 (IV, R734-47). Counsel for Appellant suggested that Floyd was suffering from mental illness and requested that the court conduct a competency evaluation (IV, R751-2). The judge ruled that a motion for evaluating competency would be heard before she conducted a <u>Faretta</u> inquiry (IV, R766,

771). Appellant then filed a *pro se* "Motion and Demand for a Speedy Trial" on November 13, 2000 (IV, R780-1). Floyd's counsel filed a "Motion for Examination to Determine Competency to Proceed" in response (IV, R793).

At the next hearing, which took place November 16, 2000, defense counsel declined to adopt any of Appellant's pro se motions (V, R799). She urged the court to rule whether or not doctors would be appointed to determine Floyd's competency to proceed (V, R801). Both defense counsel and the prosecutor agreed that Floyd's pro se demand for a speedy trial should be considered a "nullity" (V, R797, 800). The judge then ruled that it was (V, R805, 807). The judge granted the motion to determine competency over the State's objection (V, R807-8). However, she requested that counsel submit proposals for what should be included in the order that the competency doctors would receive (V, R824, 829, 834-5).

At the December 20, 2000 hearing, counsel argued over the wording of the competency order (XXII, R3899-3913). The court entered an "Order Appointing Experts for Competency Evaluation" which required the reports from the doctors to be filed by February 9, 2001 (VI, R1097-9; XXII, R3918). On January 31, 2001, defense counsel noted that two of the three court-appointed

doctors gave opinions that Appellant was incompetent to proceed (S3, R4759). At a hearing held February 15, 2001, the prosecutor and defense counsel agreed to let the judge decide competency based upon the reports submitted by the three doctors without conducting adversarial hearings (XXII, R3953-4, 3959). The court requested proposed orders in case she found Appellant incompetent to proceed and stated that she would review the doctors' reports (XXII, R3962).

The court declared at the hearing held March 1, 2001 that she had studied the doctors' reports and found that Floyd was incompetent to proceed (S1, R4453). After considering input from both counsel, the judge entered her "Order Adjudging Defendant Incompetent to Proceed and Commitment to Department of Children and Families" on March 6, 2001 (VII, R1252-7).

Floyd was transported to the North Florida Evaluation and Treatment Center where he remained until his discharge on June 26, 2001 (S6, R5210). At a hearing held July 5, 2001, defense counsel requested that the same three doctors be appointed to reevaluate Floyd's competency (XX, R3661-2). Counsel also stated that Floyd still wanted to discharge counsel and represent himself (XX, R3662). The doctors were reappointed (VII, R1323-31; XX, R3668-9).

Subsequently, the doctors filed reports reaffirming their original determinations. Both doctors who had previously found Floyd incompetent to proceed said that he was even more incompetent (S8, R5605, 5614-5). Before competency hearings could be held, the court found on September 26, 2001 that a conflict existed between Floyd and the Public Defender (X, R1850, 1866). Appellant, upon examination by the court, declared that he would waive any conflict (X, R1868). He challenged the judge to find him competent and stated that he would request to discharge counsel and represent himself once he was found competent (X, R1877). The court found that it was appropriate to discharge the Public Defender and appoint private counsel to represent Appellant (X, R1878, 1886). Co-counsel was later appointed on October 18, 2001 (X, R1901-4; XIX, R3570-3).

Evidentiary hearings on Floyd's competency were eventually held on November 16, 2001 (XXI, R3730-862); February 15, 2002 (S5 and 6, R5063-296); March 8, 2002 (S7, R5297-428); April 12, 2002 (XIX, R3477-565); and May 3, 2002 (S1, R4503-40). Witnesses from the North Florida Evaluation and Treatment Center included a registered nurse and a social services counselor (XXI, R3761-98, 3801-39; S5, R5071-157), as well as Dr. Bilak, a clinical psychologist (S5&6, R5158-244), and Dr. Hernandez, a staff

psychiatrist (S6, R5246-93; XIX, R3479-554). The two doctors agreed that Floyd was competent to stand trial (XIX, R3491-501, 3530-2; S6, R5203-14). Dr. Bilak diagnosed Floyd as having an "adjustment disorder with mixed emotional features", but he never observed any psychotic or hypomanic behavior (S5, R5175; S6, R5197-9). Although Dr. Hernandez stated that she thought that Floyd's mental condition would benefit from anti-anxiety medication, Appellant chose to refuse it (XIX, R3538-9, 3543-4).

The two court-appointed doctors who had found Floyd incompetent to proceed also testified (S7, R5302-425; S1, R4518-26). Both changed their opinions after hearing testimony from the staff at North Florida Evaluation and Treatment Center and observing Appellant during the hearings (S5407-9, 5414-7, 5420-4; S1, R4520-6). The third court-appointed doctor reaffirmed her original opinions that Floyd was competent to proceed (S1, R4527-31). Defense counsel submitted an additional report from a forensic psychologist who had recently examined Floyd and found him incompetent to proceed (S1, R4536-7; S3, R4789-90).

After hearing argument from counsel regarding the competency issue on June 14, 2002, (S3, R4843-60), Judge Ley entered an order on July 30, 2002 ruling that Appellant was now competent to stand trial (XII, R2195-2211; AD, R3979-80). Floyd then filed a motion

requesting that he be appointed as co-counsel (XII, R2234). He also moved the court for a <u>Faretta</u> hearing (XII, R2237-8). At a hearing held August 8, 2002, the court granted Appellant's motion for co-counsel status (S4, R4934). The motion for a <u>Faretta</u> inquiry was later withdrawn (S4, R4975-7).

When accepting a trial date of September 18, 2002, defense counsel put on the record that he was not waiving his previous motion for discharge on speedy trial grounds (AD, R3997). The speedy trial issue arose when Appellant filed a pro se "Notice of Expiration of Speedy Trial Time" on May 30, 2002 (XI, R2041-6). At a hearing held June 6, 2002, defense counsel adopted the pro se motion and argued that speedy trial time had run (S4, T4955-63). Further argument was considered on June 14, 2002, where defense counsel clarified that he was arguing that Floyd's rights under the Interstate Detainer Act were violated as well as the state procedural right to a speedy trial (S3, T4774-8, 4797-4804). The State filed a motion to strike the Notice of Expiration (XI, R2077-8) and argued that Appellant originally waived speedy trial on November 18, 1999 and had not subsequently filed a valid demand for speedy trial (S3, T4807-24). The court took the issue under advisement (S3, T4830-1, 4860) and filed an order June 20, 2002 (XII, R2180-5; AD2I, R4006-8) finding that because Appellant had

been adjudicated incompetent, he was unavailable for trial. The State's "Motion to Strike Notice of Expiration of Speedy Trial Time" was granted (XII, R2180-5).

Appellant then petitioned the Second District Court of Appeal for a writ of prohibition, which was denied without a written opinion. <u>Floyd v. State</u>, 829 So. 2d 212 (Fla. 2d DCA September 13, 2002). Immediately prior to trial, defense counsel renewed the motion for discharge and the court adhered to its prior ruling (S11, T49).

Several defense motions in limine (XIII, R2285-95; XIV, R2478-9, 2542-4) were heard on August 29, 2002 (AD2I and II, R4027-4349). The "Motion in Limine to Exclude Profiler Testimony" (XIII, R2291) concerned a retired FBI agent Kenneth Lanning, a purported expert in criminal behavior profiling who "deals mostly with child molestation" (AD2I, R4049-78). The prosecutor wanted to educate the jury by allowing Lanning to testify about the significance of the group of photographs allegedly collected by Appellant (AD2I, R4079-4106). The court reserved ruling until September 5,2002 when an order was issued granting the motion to exclude profiler testimony (AD2I, R4105-6; XIV, R2585-8; S9, R5634).

Also heard at the August 29 hearing was the defense "Motion in Limine to Suppress Photographs Taken at Pinellas County Jail" (XIV, R2544; AD2I, R4124-68). Defense counsel argued that the photographs taken of Floyd's thumbs at the Pinellas County Jail pursuant to a search warrant issued October 6, 1999 should be suppressed because the affidavit in support of issuing the warrant did not disclose that the state already possessed photographs depicting Floyd's thumbs taken by court order at earlier dates (AD2I, R4124-8). Detective Robert Shock testified that he was the lead investigator on this homicide (AD2I, R4131-7). He was shown photographs taken by court order in Oklahoma of Floyd's hand (AD2I, R4138). FBI examiner Musheno told the detective that the photographs were unsuitable for a comparison analysis and directed the Oklahoma authorities to take another set at the proper angle (AD2I, R4139, 4146-7). When these photographs were also of low quality, Detective Shock decided that FBI examiner Musheno should photograph Floyd's hands himself (AD2I, R4139-40).

Shock prepared an affidavit for a search warrant on October 6, 1999, but failed to disclose in it that photographs had previously been taken in Oklahoma (AD2I, R4142, 4148). The warrant was signed by a judge and photographs of Floyd's thumb were taken pursuant to it in the Pinellas County Jail (AD2I,

R4142-5). After deleting a paragraph which the affiant was "not comfortable with", an affidavit executed by Musheno was also considered by the trial court (AD2I, R4149-57). The judge denied Appellant's motion to suppress the photographs, ruling that there would still be probable cause for issuing the warrant even if the omitted information had been included (AD2I, R4157-68).

Appellant, acting in his capacity of co-counsel, argued the "Motion in Limine to Exclude Photographs Purportedly Found in an Abandoned Ford Pickup Truck" (XIII, R2292-4; XIV, R2478-9; AD2I and II, R4168-4347). Appellant argued that the photographs found in Kansas had been altered and tampered with to the extent that they should not be admissible in evidence (AD2II, R4222-96). The prosecutor agreed that the tiny irregularly-shaped photos found in Kansas had been enlarged and cropped because "whoever was copying them was more concerned with contents than the configuration" (AD2II, R4327). Defense counsel reiterated that Appellant's burden was to show probable tampering sufficient to require the State to establish the chain of custody (AD2II, R4333-7). The court ruled in a subsequent hearing that the burden had not shifted to the State, but stated that testimony about how the photographs were obtained should be presented before the photos could be admitted (S9, R5656-63).

After the jury had been selected, four witnesses (John Magenheimer, a retiree from Polaroid Corporation, Luther Masterson, the owner of the body shop where the photographs were discovered, Gary Hines, a Mission, Kansas police detective, and James Scott, an employee of Masterson Auto Body) testified regarding the alleged tampering with the photographs (S14, T437-507). The court ordered the State to produce another set of the photographs which defense counsel had just become aware of before ruling on the motion (S14, T514-5). The next morning, after hearing argument and viewing the photographs, the judge ruled that there was no proof of tampering; therefore, the State did not have to prove the chain of custody (S14, T556-72).

The State filed a "Notice of Intent to Use Evidence of Other Crimes, Wrongs or Acts Committed by the Defendant" at the close of the August 29, 2002 hearing and it was set for argument along with the defense <u>Williams Rule</u> motion on September 5, 2002 (XIV, R2518-39; AD2II, R4348-9). At the September 5 hearing, the State produced letters written by Floyd to State witnesses James Davis and Helen Hill-Kellar and contended that they amounted to tampering with these witnesses (S9, R5672). The court reviewed the letters and ruled that the State could introduce them as evidence of consciousness of guilt (S9, R5676-9).

Appellant's "Motion in Limine to Exclude the Defendant's Prior Criminal Record and Prior Bad Acts" (XIII, R2287-8) was next heard by the court (S9, R5679-5707). The prosecutor contended that a carjacking and two kidnappings committed by Floyd in 1994 were inextricably intertwined with the case at bar because it placed Appellant in possession of the truck where the photographs purportedly linking him to this homicide were later found (S9, R5684-7). Defense counsel argued that the facts of the incident which involved kidnapping an elementary school principal at gunpoint, taking custody of a first-grade child, and stealing the principal's truck after handcuffing him to a tree in the woods were so prejudicial as to outweigh the probative value of the evidence (S9, R5687-90). Defense counsel also stated that the testimony could be limited to allowing the principal to testify that Floyd had possession of the principal's truck from September 12, 1994 until it was recovered on October 22, 1994 (S9, R5691-3). The prosecutor suggested that the judge could give a standard William's Rule instruction to clarify to the jury that Appellant was not on trial for the other crimes (S9, R5704-5).

The hearing was continued until September 9, 2002, when the judge stated that she wasn't certain that the facts of the incident were inextricably intertwined (XV, R2635). Defense

counsel reiterated, "The fact that Mr. Floyd with a handgun went into an elementary school in 1994 and kidnapped his son and the principal and handcuffed the principal to a tree is not relevant to any of the issues that are before this Court" (XV, R2669). All that was relevant was after the principal met Floyd, Floyd had exclusive possession of the principal's truck and the principal had not placed any photographs under the carriage of the vehicle (XV, R2672-3, 2682-3, 2693). The prosecutor claimed that the "events of Mr. Floyd's life became a collection of photographs coupled with what is also loosely called the child pornography"; therefore the significance of the photographs to Floyd and Floyd alone was the material issue (XV, R2674-80). The court directed the prosecutor to file a <u>Williams Rule</u> notice in case the carjacking and kidnapping evidence was determined to be similar crime evidence rather than inextricably intertwined (XV, R2680).

After taking the motion under advisement (XV, R2700), the judge issued a written order on September 11, 2002, limiting the evidence which the State could adduce at trial regarding the kidnappings and carjacking (XV, R2763-8; S10, R5812-21).

Trial commenced on September 19, 2002 before Circuit Judge Nancy Moate Ley (S11, T54). A jury was selected (S11-3, T54-422). The State's motion in limine to exclude defense use of a report by

Dr. Maples, now deceased, was heard and denied with the proviso that defense counsel was not permitted to mention it in opening argument (XV, R2821-2; S14, T516-48). The court stated that the photos would be reviewed individually under the balancing test of section 403 of the Florida Evidence Code and set forth some guidelines for admissibility (S14, T573-4). When photographs were about to be proffered by the State, defense counsel objected to all 97 and particularly to allowing any which contained nudity (S15, T716-22). The prosecutor asked witness Luther Masterson about the contents of the photographs he found and defense counsel objected to the leading questions and prejudicial characterizations (S15, T741-2). The objection was sustained; but the court allowed the prosecutor to produce the photos "the way you want to do" while giving defense counsel "a continuing objection to all of these photos, any of these photos, anything" (S15, T743, 746, 783).

The prosecutor later stated that the "child porn aspect" of the photographs had already been revealed to the jury and argued that its significance was "why a person would keep those photographs" (S16, T820-1). The judge proceeded to examine the photos one-by-one, stating, "I plan to let in some things that would otherwise be described as pornography", "because they are

relevant to the kind of collection they found here" (S16, T823-4, 827). Defense counsel reiterated that he wanted to exclude photographs of children (S16, T826). Seven of the photographs were not allowed into evidence by the court (S16, T830-1).

Appellant preserved his objection to allowing the nude photographs of Sharon Marshall into evidence (S18, T1095, 1097-9). He offered to stipulate that He knew Helen Hill-Kellar and her children and had taken photographs of them (S18, T1109-13). The State declined the stipulation and argued that the photographs of the children were "not pornography" but simply "sexually suggestive" (S18, T1115). Further objection to the relevance of the photographs of Helen Hill-Kellar's children was made before they were admitted into evidence (S18, T1157-62). Defense counsel's further motion for a mistrial was denied (S18, T1162).

Prior to the prosecutor's opening argument, defense counsel had renewed his objection to the collateral crime evidence and was granted a continuing objection to its use in the prosecutor's opening argument (S14, T574-6). The prosecutor then asked the court for guidance as to which specific acts would be admissible under the order (S15, T805-11). Defense counsel agreed not to object if the prosecutor asked leading questions of the witness James Davis in order to keep his testimony within the parameters

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