IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FRANKLIN DELANO FLOYD,

Appellant,

v. CASE NO. SC03-35

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR

Senior Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0503843 Concourse Center 4 3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 (813) 287-7910 (813) 281-5501 Facsimile

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

arose. In order to adequately consider the denial of the mistrial at issue, it is necessary to explore the totality of the circumstances in context.

The record reflects that the defense moved for a mistrial during prosecutorial questioning of Floyd on cross examination in the penalty phase (SV25/1995-97). Floyd testified on direct examination that he was not going to beg for a life recommendation, because he had not committed this crime and believed it was "wrong to beg for something you didn't do" (SV25/1983). He continued in a narrative fashion to tell the jury about his background, including a history of abuse which started when he was in an orphanage and continuing through his stays in state and federal prison (SV25/1983-89). Floyd stated that he went to prison in the state of Georgia, and then later robbed a bank and got fifteen years in a federal prison (SV25/1987).

Before beginning cross examination, the prosecutor approached the bench and told the judge that he thought Floyd's denial of having committed this crime opened the door to examination on that particular issue, to rebut any claim of lingering doubt as mitigation (SV25/1989-90). The prosecutor also felt that Floyd's testimony about having been in prison opened the door for inquiry as to why he was sent to prison

(SV25/1990). The prosecutor noted that the prison time resulted from the 1963 child molestation case (SV25/1990). The defense advised that the prison time could be based on any number of prior convictions, which defense counsel had intended to ask about on direct (SV25/1990). Defense counsel also stated that they were not seeking mitigation based on lingering doubt, acknowledging that the jury had already convicted Floyd and the defense had no intention of revisiting the conviction under the quise of mitigation (SV25/1991). The judge indicated that she was inclined to find that the door had been opened to these questions, but that she was considering taking a break and calling Judge Susan Schaeffer for advice before ruling that the prosecution could explore these issues (SV25/1992). The prosecutor indicated that he may not approach this line of questioning, and offered to start cross examination and request to approach the bench for a proffer if he felt he was going to get into that area (SV25/1992). Defense counsel asked for the opportunity to ask about Floyd's priors before tendering the for cross examination; thereafter, the conference concluded and Floyd testified in response to his attorney's question that he had nineteen prior felony convictions (SV25/1992-93).

The prosecutor's initial question on cross examination

followed up on his admission to having nineteen prior felony convictions (SV25/1993). When the prosecutor asked how many times Floyd had been convicted of a felony, Floyd responded he didn't really know, but guessed it was nineteen (SV25/1993). He stated that he did not really know the number or what they were; he had some idea, but couldn't remember all of them (SV25/1993).

The prosecutor then asked if Floyd "did all those crimes," and Floyd said no (SV25/1994). Floyd acknowledged that he had made a choice to do the crimes he had done, but he had not done them all (SV25/1994). At that point, the prosecutor began recounting the prior convictions about which the jury had heard evidence - the attack on Ms. Box, which Floyd denied having committed but admitted having been convicted on; the carjacking and kidnaping of Mr. Davis and Michael Hughes, which Floyd admitted; and the bank robbery in 1963, which Floyd admitted The prosecutor then asked about a child (SV25/1994-95). molestation offense in 1963, and Floyd denied having committed that crime (SV25/1995). At that point, the defense objected for the first time, moving for a mistrial (SV25/1995). The judge indicated that the prosecutor was not using the testimony to establish the prior convictions aggravating factor, but only for cross examination on the admitted convictions. The prosecutor

felt entitled to go through the convictions because Floyd had been uncertain and guessing about the number; he confirmed that he was seeking impeachment and not using the convictions for an aggravating factor (SV25/1996). The defense countered that this was improper impeachment (SV25/1996).

The judge indicated at that point that she was wary of the jury hearing anything about a juvenile conviction, and asked the prosecutor how far he intended to go with this line of questioning (SV25/1996). The prosecutor indicated he was stopping at that point; the court then denied the motion for mistrial, and asked the defense if they had any further request of the court; they did not (SV25/1996). The prosecutor then clarified for the record that the 1963 conviction was not a juvenile adjudication; Floyd had been tried as an adult, and received an adult criminal conviction (SV25/1997). The defense did not dispute this assertion, but did request the court provide a curative instruction, asking the jury to disregard the last question and answer (SV25/1997). The court agreed and so advised the jury (SV25/1997).

Following this ruling, Floyd refused to respond to any other questions from the prosecutor, indicating that he had nothing else to say after the way he had been treated (SV25/1998). Floyd refused to answer the questions as instructed by the

court, but at the request of the defense, finding it to be an extraordinary situation, the judge permitted Floyd the opportunity to explain the circumstances behind the molestation conviction. Floyd noted particularly that the child victim was not required to testify under Georgia law, that there was no physical evidence against him, and that it was a case of mistaken identity (SV25/1998-2004). When Floyd finished, the judge reminded that the jury had been instructed to disregard any reference to that offense (SV25/2004). The prosecutor then asked Floyd if Floyd felt that his history at the orphanage explained how he became the man he was today, and Floyd denied that, saying that he had been a criminal for fifty years and that he took full responsibility for his background (SV25/2004-05).

Application of relevant legal principles confirms that the trial court's ruling denying the motion for mistrial was proper. Although it is true that the general rule limits impeachment by prior convictions to the number of convictions and prohibits exploration into the details, this Court has acknowledged that a witness may be subject to further inquiry if there is any attempt to mislead the jury or delude the jury about the criminal history. Fotopoulos v. State, 608 So. 2d 784, 791 (Fla. 1992). A trial judge, as observer, determines the extent

to which testimony may open the door to further questioning and is charged with keeping the parties within reasonable bounds.

<u>Lawhorne v. State</u>, 500 So. 2d 519, 523 (Fla. 1986).

The record reveals that the prosecutor's questioning in this case was a proper response to Floyd's comments about his prior convictions. When Floyd indicated that he did not remember how many convictions he had, the prosecutor was entitled to explore the issue. See Burst v. State, 836 So. 2d 1107, 1108-09 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003) (defendant opened door to prosecutor's questions into nature of prior convictions); Mosley v. State, 739 So. 2d 672, 676 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) (noting exception to general rule against inquiry into nature of prior convictions when witness opens the door to broader inquiry). Moreover, any possible impropriety in asking Floyd whether he had committed the crimes for which he had been convicted was waived; no objection was lodged at that time, and the later objection when the prosecutor molestation conviction specifically mentioned the only challenged mention of that particular conviction. Although that objection asserted improper impeachment, when the mistrial was denied the only further request by the defense was to ask the court to instruct the jury to disregard the last question and From this request, it is clear that defense counsel was not concerned with how the prosecutor had gotten to that point,

only that that point had been reached. Since the defense did not request any action by the court as to the initial line of questioning into the nature of Floyd's prior convictions, any purported error that may now be gleaned from that inquiry has been waived.

Floyd asserts, however, that any failure to adequately preserve this issue for appeal amounts to ineffective assistance of counsel on the face of the record, as in Rodriguez v. State, 761 So. 2d 381 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000). On the facts of this case, reliance on Rodriquez is misplaced. Most notably, defense counsel in the instant case did object to the prosecutor's question, and although the court below denied a mistrial, a curative instruction was granted advising the jury to disregard question and regarding Floyd's molestation the answer conviction. In addition, even if counsel below had offered the same claims now asserted, no relief would have been warranted on trial or in this appeal. Any violation of the rules governing impeachment could not have affected the jury recommendation in this case because the information obtained by the prosecutor about the nature of Floyd's prior convictions was already known to the jury. Therefore, no possible prejudice can be discerned and no compelling example of ineffective assistance of counsel is offered on this record.

For the same reason, any possible impropriety revealed in the prosecutor's questioning is clearly harmless beyond any reasonable doubt on the facts of this case. At the beginning of the penalty phase, a stipulation was entered by the parties agreeing that Floyd had been convicted of a number of violent crimes, including a 1963 bank robbery in Oklahoma; the 1995 federal convictions for the carjacking and kidnaping offenses on James Davis and Michael Hughes; the subsequent State of Oklahoma convictions for the Davis/Hughes incident; and a 1994 burglary and battery on Ms. Carrie Box (SV25/1917-18). The parties also stipulated that Floyd had absconded from his 1973 federal parole stemming from the bank robbery conviction and was therefore under a sentence of imprisonment at the time of Cheryl Commesso's murder (SV25/1918).

Thus, although the prosecutor mentioned the nature of several of Floyd's prior convictions, the jury was already well aware of the details of Floyd's convictions for his actions against Carrie Box, James Davis, and Michael Hughes. In addition, the jury had heard penalty phase testimony from Box and Davis describing the facts underlying those particular convictions (SV25/1919-1938, 1939-1958).

Floyd complains primarily about the molestation conviction, which prompted the objection and request for mistrial below.

However, in addition to having the jury instructed to disregard this information, Floyd testified following the denial of the mistrial to his version of events demonstrating his alleged innocence of this crime (SV25/2000-04). Following his explanation, the court repeated her admonition for the jury to disregard any reference to that crime (SV25/2004). On these facts, any possible error in the exchange between Floyd and the prosecutor could not have affected the jury verdict and could only be harmless. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

On these facts, no abuse of discretion can be shown in the trial court's denial of the motion for mistrial during the prosecutor's cross examination of Floyd's penalty phase testimony. No new sentencing proceeding is warranted, and this Court must affirm Floyd's sentence.

ISSUE VII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION CHALLENGING THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF FLORIDA'S CAPITAL SENTENCING PROCEDURES UNDER RING V. ARIZONA, 536 U.S. 584 (2002).

Floyd next asserts that his death sentence must be vacated because he was allegedly sentenced under a defective statute. It must be noted initially that Floyd's appellate argument does not provide any meaningful argument as to error, it simply refers to a motion to bar sentence premised on Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), which was denied by the court below. absence of any substantive claim in this issue precludes consideration of the conclusory argument presented in Floyd's brief. The failure to assert any argument with regard to these claims compels a conclusion that any possible error has been waived. Sweet v. State, 810 So. 2d 854 (Fla. 2002) ("because on appeal Sweet simply recites these claims from his postconviction motion in a sentence or two, without elaboration or explanation, we conclude that these instances of alleged ineffectiveness are not preserved for appellate review"); <a>Peede v. State, 748 So. 2d 253, 256 n.5 (Fla. 1999); <u>Shere v. State</u>, 742 So. 2d 215, 217 n. 6 (Fla. 1999); <u>Duest v. Dugger</u>, 555 So. 2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990) ("The purpose of an appellate brief is to present arguments in support of the points on appeal. Merely making reference to

arguments below without further elucidation does not suffice to preserve issues, and these claims are deemed to have been waived.").

To the extent it may be considered despite the failure to brief this issue, it is a purely legal claim, subject to de novo review. <u>Trotter v. State</u>, 825 So. 2d 362, 365 (Fla. 2002).

This Court has repeatedly rejected Floyd's claim that Ring invalidated Florida's capital sentencing procedures. See Duest v. State, 855 So. 2d 33, 49 (Fla. 2003); Kormondy v. State, 845 So. 2d 41, 54 (Fla. 2003) (Ring does not encompass Florida procedures or require either notice of the aggravating factors that the State will present at sentencing or a special verdict form indicating the aggravating factors found by the jury); Butler v. State, 842 So. 2d 817, 834 (Fla. 2003) (rejecting Ring claim in a single aggravator (HAC) case); Porter v. Crosby, 840 So. 2d 981, 986 (Fla. 2003); Bottoson v. Moore, 833 So. 2d 693 (Fla.), cert. denied, 537 U.S. 1070 (2002); King v. Moore, 831 So. 2d 143 (Fla.), cert. denied, 537 U.S. 1067 (2002).

In addition, it bears noting that the judge below adopted measures specifically designed to prevent or diffuse any possible Sixth Amendment violation. This case was tried after Ring was decided but before this Court issued its opinions in King and Bottoson. In order to assess and document jury

findings should it be deemed necessary in light of Ring, the judge provided a special verdict form which required the jury to indicate the jury vote with regard to each of the three aggravating factors sought by the State. This verdict form reveals that the jury found unanimously that all three aggravating factors applied, and unanimously recommended that a sentence of death be imposed (V17/3073-74). These unmistakable jury findings in the record, along with the application of the prior violent felony conviction and under sentence of imprisonment aggravating factors, establish that no possible Ring error can be discerned. This Court must reject this claim as barred and affirm the death sentence imposed below.

ISSUE VIII

WHETHER THE DEFENDANT'S DEATH SENTENCE VIOLATES DUE PROCESS BECAUSE HIS GUILT WAS NOT ESTABLISHED TO A MORAL CERTAINTY.

Floyd's final claim asserts that his death sentence violates the Eighth Amendment because his conviction allegedly failed to establish his guilt to a virtual certainty. According to Floyd, proof of guilt beyond a reasonably doubt is insufficient, and the heightened reliability required by the Eighth Amendment demands that his death sentence be reversed. Once again, Floyd is not entitled to any relief in this issue.

This is a purely legal claim which is reviewed de novo. Trotter, 825 So. 2d at 365.

The first difficulty with Floyd's argument is that it does not appear to be the same claim presented to the court below. The pro se written motion is not included in the record on appeal. The transcript of the hearing at which the motion was argued reflects that Floyd asked the court to declare Florida's death penalty to be unconstitutional because allegedly innocent people have been executed (SV2/4656-4665). The appellate argument suggests the problem stems from this Court's refusal to acknowledge lingering doubt as a mitigating factor, and claims that the Eighth Amendment elevates lingering doubt to such importance as a mitigator that death cannot be constitutionally

imposed unless guilt is proven to a "virtual certainty," (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 74). The argument to the court below, however, did not mention using lingering doubt in mitigation or the need to recognize a higher standard of proof. Since Floyd had changed the substance of his argument, his current claim was not preserved for appellate review. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982).

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